COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC

Form 10-O

November 09, 2016

T	IN	TT	ΈI) S	TA	١Т	FS
•	ノエマ	11	-	ノい	1 /	у т	\mathbf{L}

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2016 or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF $_{1934}^{\circ}$

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 0-24960

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 88-0320154

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

or organization)

400 Birmingham Hwy.

Chattanooga, TN 37419 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

423-821-1212

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer [] Accelerated filer [X] Non-accelerated filer []
(Do not check if a smaller Smaller reporting company [] reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes [] No [X]
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date (November 7, 2016).
Class A Common Stock, \$.01 par value: 15,844,319 shares
Class B Common Stock, \$.01 par value: 2,350,000 shares

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item 6. Exhibits

PART I FINANC	CIAL INFORMATION	Page
Item 1. F		Number
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2016 (unaudited) and December 31, 2015	3
<u>C</u> 2	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (unaudited)	' 4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (unaudited)	5
2	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 (unaudited)	6
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (unaudited)	7
1	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	8
Item 2. <u>N</u>	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	19
Item 3. <u>C</u>	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	34
Item 4. <u>C</u>	Controls and Procedures	35
PART II OTHER	INFORMATION	Page Number
Item 1. <u>I</u>	Legal Proceedings	36
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	36
Item 2. <u>U</u>	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	36
Item 3. <u>Γ</u>	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	36
Item 4. <u>N</u>	Mine Safety Disclosures	36
Item 5. <u>C</u>	Other Information	36

37

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS Current accepts	September 30, 2016 (unaudited)	December 31, 2015
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, net of allowance of \$1,120 in 2016 and \$1,857 in 2015	\$5,027 72,365	\$4,490 112,669
Drivers' advances and other receivables, net of allowance of \$1,075 in 2016 and \$1,005 in 2015 Inventory and supplies Prepaid expenses	11,239 4,112 10,192	8,779 4,004 8,678
Assets held for sale Income taxes receivable Total current assets	8,111 3,798 114,844	25,626 8,591 172,837
Property and equipment, at cost Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization Net property and equipment	626,930 (154,676) 472,254	596,071 (142,022) 454,049
Other assets, net Total assets	19,884 \$606,982	19,831 \$646,717
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Current liabilities:		
Checks outstanding in excess of bank balances	\$1,299	\$4,698
Accounts payable Accrued expenses	10,081 21,335	12,272 30,143
Current maturities of long-term debt	29,555	39,395
Current portion of capital lease obligations	1,736	4,031
Current portion of insurance and claims accrual	15,785	17,134
Other short-term liabilities	7,892	18,549
Total current liabilities	87,683	126,222
Long-term debt	178,188	196,057
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations	13,693	10,547
Insurance and claims accrual	19,373	22,300
Deferred income taxes	75,690	76,981
Other long-term liabilities	6,955	12,450
Total liabilities	381,582	444,557
Commitments and contingent liabilities Stookholders' aguittu	-	-
Stockholders' equity: Class A common stock, \$.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 15,922,879 shares issued and 15,844,319 outstanding as of September 30, 2016 and 15,922,879 shares issue	170	170

and 15,773,381 shares outstanding as of December 31,2015

Class B common stock, \$.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 2,350,000 shares				
issued and outstanding	24		24	
Additional paid-in-capital	138,823		139,968	
Treasury stock at cost; 78,560 and 149,498 shares as of September 30, 2016 and December				
31, 2015, respectively	(1,698)	(3,408)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(7,969)	(17,544)
Retained earnings	96,050		82,950	
Total stockholders' equity	225,400		202,160	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$606,982		\$646,717	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 (In thousands, except per share data)

	Three mor September (unaudited	30,	Nine mont September (unaudited	30,
	2016	2015	2016	2015
Revenue:				
Freight revenue	\$148,229	\$153,522	\$437,344	\$449,003
Fuel surcharge revenue	16,271	19,990	42,329	67,175
Total revenue	\$164,500	\$173,512	\$479,673	\$516,178
Operating expenses:				
Salaries, wages, and related expenses	57,972	60,241	171,666	177,624
Fuel expense	26,436	30,526	75,989	94,931
Operations and maintenance	11,359	12,728	34,227	35,666
Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation	27,831	27,548	80,308	76,714
Operating taxes and licenses	2,815	2,879	8,404	8,162
Insurance and claims	8,362	6,682	21,985	21,727
Communications and utilities	1,546	1,527	4,488	4,547
General supplies and expenses	3,405	2,060	10,193	9,993
Depreciation and amortization, including gains and losses on disposition				
of property and equipment	19,328	14,692	52,232	43,368
Total operating expenses	159,054	158,883	459,492	472,732
Operating income	5,446	14,629	20,181	43,446
Other expenses, net	1,959	2,041	6,210	5,962
Equity in income of affiliate	450	1,000	2,450	3,720
Income before income taxes	3,937	13,588	16,421	41,204
Income tax expense	1,068	5,961	5,568	12,349
Net income	\$2,869	\$7,627	\$10,853	\$28,855
Income per share:				
Basic net income per share	\$0.16	\$0.42	\$0.60	\$1.59
Diluted net income per share	\$0.16	\$0.42	\$0.59	\$1.57
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	18,194	18,119	18,177	18,175
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	18,287	18,320	18,258	18,346

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 (In thousands)

	Three mended September (unaudi 2016	ber 30,	Nine more ended Septembe (unaudite 2016	er 30,
Net income	\$2,869	\$7,627	\$10,853	\$28,855
Other comprehensive income (loss):				
Unrealized (loss) gain on effective portion of cash flow hedges, net of tax of \$72 and \$779 in 2016 and \$4,700 and \$4,874 in 2015, respectively	(115)	(7,573)	1,244	(7,853)
Reclassification of cash flow hedge losses into statement of operations, net of tax of \$1,596 and \$5,215 in 2016 and \$1,647 and \$4,124 in 2015, respectively Total other comprehensive income (loss)	2,549 2,434	2,652 (4,921)	8,331 9,575	6,644 (1,209)
Comprehensive income	\$5,303	\$2,706	\$20,428	\$27,646

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 (Unaudited and in thousands)

	C		Additional		Accumulated Other	I	Total	
	Comn Stock Class A		Paid-In Capital	Treasury Stock	Comprehensi	ive Retained Earnings	Stockholders Equity	s'
Balances at December 31, 2015	\$170	\$ 24	\$139,968	\$(3,408)	\$ (17,544) \$82,950	\$ 202,160	
Net income	-	-	-	-	-	10,853	10,853	
Other comprehensive income	-	-	-	-	9,575	-	9,575	
Effect of adoption of ASU 2016-09	-	-	-	-	-	2,247	2,247	
Exercise of stock options	-	-	(27)	59	-	-	32	
Stock-based employee compensation expense	-	-	914	-	-	-	914	
Issuance of restricted shares	-	-	(2,032)	1,651	-	-	(381)
Balances at September 30, 2016	\$170	\$ 24	\$138,823	\$(1,698)	\$ (7,969) \$96,050	\$ 225,400	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 (In thousands)

	Nine months September 3 (unaudited)	0,
	2016	2015
Cash flows from operating activities:	***	***
Net income	\$10,853	\$28,855
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	(5 04	106
Provision for losses on accounts receivable	(531)	196
(Reversal)/deferral of gain on sales to equity method investee	(169)	38
Depreciation and amortization	52,142	43,741
Amortization of deferred financing fees	224	199
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense	(5,505)	
Casualty premium credit	-	(3,600)
Income tax benefit arising from restricted share vesting	560	(1,757) $(1,290)$
Unrealized gain on ineffective portion of fuel hedges	-	
Return of cash collateral on fuel hedge	-	5,000
Stock-based compensation expense	1,114	1,136
Equity in income of affiliate	(2,450)	(3,720)
Return on investment in affiliated company	1,470	-
Loss (gain) on disposition of property and equipment	90	(373)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Receivables and advances	43,743	22,655
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(1,028)	1,102
Inventory and supplies	(108)	250
Insurance and claims accrual	(4,276)	(3,599)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(14,040)	(12,071)
Net cash flows provided by operating activities	82,089	78,560
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Acquisition of property and equipment	(100,920)	(145,611)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment	54,959	31,104
Net cash flows used in investing activities	(45,961)	(114,507)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Change in checks outstanding in excess of bank balances	(3,399)	-
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable	62,969	93,419
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options	32	1,092
Income tax benefit arising from restricted share vesting	-	1,757
Repayments of notes payable	(103,627)	(59,337)
Repayments of capital lease obligations	(3,711)	(1,286)
Proceeds under revolving credit facility	762,338	635,784
Repayments under revolving credit facility	(749,504)	(635,784)
Payment of minimum tax withholdings on stock compensation	(581)	(1,786)
Common stock repurchased	-	(4,994)

Debt refinancing costs Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(108 (35,591)	(226 28,639)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	537	(7,308)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	4,490	21,330	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$5,027	\$14,022	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., a Nevada holding company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries. References in this report to "we," "us," "our," the "Company," and similar expressions refer to Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. In preparing financial statements, it is necessary for management to make assumptions and estimates affecting the amounts reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes. These estimates and assumptions are developed based upon all information available. Actual results could differ from estimated amounts. In the opinion of management, the accompanying financial statements include all adjustments that are necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented, such adjustments being of a normal recurring nature.

Certain information and footnote disclosures have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The December 31, 2015, condensed consolidated balance sheet was derived from our audited balance sheet as of that date. The Company's operating results are subject to seasonal trends when measured on a quarterly basis; therefore operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016. These condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. Results of operations in interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards adopted

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, which changes the accounting for certain aspects of share-based payments to employees. The guidance requires the recognition of the income tax effects of awards in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled, thus eliminating additional paid in capital pools. The guidance also allows for the employer to repurchase more of an employee's shares for tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accounting. In addition, the guidance allows for a policy election to account for forfeitures as they occur rather than on an estimated basis. The guidance is effective in 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Company has adopted this standard effective for the interim period ended June 30, 2016 resulting in the recording of \$2.2 million to retained earnings as of the beginning of 2016 and \$0.6 million of additional income tax benefit in the first quarter of 2016 as a result of previously unrecognized tax benefits resulting from our net operating loss carryovers. The statement of cash flows has not been adjusted for prior periods as we have adopted the statement of cash flow guidance prospectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation for book purposes is determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, while depreciation for tax purposes is generally recorded using an accelerated method. Depreciation of revenue equipment is our largest item of depreciation. We have historically depreciated new tractors (excluding day cabs) over five years to salvage values of approximately 25% of their cost. We generally depreciate new trailers over six years for refrigerated trailers and ten years for dry van trailers to salvage values of approximately 38% of their cost. As a result of the progressive decline in the value of used tractors and our expectations that used tractor prices will not rebound in the near term, effective July 1, 2016 we reduced the salvage values on our tractors and, thus, prospectively increased depreciation expense. Estimates around the salvage values and useful lives for trailers remain unchanged. The impact in the third quarter of 2016 and in future quarters is approximately \$2.0 million of additional depreciation expense per quarter or approximately \$1.2 million per quarter net of tax, which represents approximately \$0.06 per common or diluted share. Changes in the useful life or salvage value estimates, or fluctuations in market values that are not reflected in our estimates, could have a material effect on our results of operations. Gains and losses on the disposal of revenue equipment are included in depreciation expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We lease certain revenue equipment under capital leases with terms of approximately 60 to 84 months. Amortization of leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense.

Although a portion of our tractors are protected by non-binding indicative trade-in values or binding trade-back agreements with the manufacturers, substantially all of our owned trailers are subject to fluctuations in market prices for used revenue equipment. Moreover, our trade-back agreements are contingent upon reaching acceptable terms for the purchase of new equipment. Declines in the price of used revenue equipment or failure to reach agreement for the purchase of new tractors with the manufacturers issuing trade-back agreements could result in impairment of, or losses on the sale of, revenue equipment.

Note 2. Income Per Share

Basic income per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted income per share reflects the dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in our earnings. The calculation of diluted income per share excludes a de minimis number of unvested shares since the effect of any assumed exercise of the related awards would be anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. There were no outstanding stock options at September 30, 2016. Income per share is the same for both Class A and Class B shares.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the calculation of net income per share included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations:

	Three Months ended		Nine Mo ended	nths
(in thousands except per share data)	Septemb	er 30,	Septembe	er 30,
	2016	2015	2016	2015
Numerator:				
Net income	\$2,869	\$7,627	\$10,853	\$28,855
Denominator:				
Denominator for basic earnings per share – weighted-average shares	18,194	18,119	18,177	18,175
Effect of dilutive securities:				
Equivalent shares issuable upon conversion of unvested restricted stock	93	200	81	166
Equivalent shares issuable upon conversion of unvested employee stock				
options	-	1	-	5
Denominator for diluted earnings per share – adjusted weighted-average				
shares and assumed conversions	18,287	18,320	18,258	18,346
Basic income per share:	\$0.16	\$0.42	\$0.60	\$1.59
Diluted income per share:	\$0.16	\$0.42	\$0.59	\$1.57

Note 3. Segment Information

We have one reportable segment, our asset-based truckload services or Truckload. Our other operations consist of several operating segments, which neither individually nor in the aggregate meet the quantitative or qualitative reporting thresholds. As a result, these operations are grouped in "Other" in the tables below.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Substantially all intersegment sales prices are market based. We evaluate performance based on operating income of the respective business units.

"Unallocated Corporate Overhead" includes expenses that are incidental to our activities and are not specifically allocated to one of the segments.

The following table summarizes our segment information:

	Three mor	ths ended	Nine months ended			
(in thousands)	September	30,	September 30,			
	2016	2015	2016	2015		
Total Revenues:						
Truckload	\$148,603	\$159,615	\$436,055	\$479,664		
Other	15,897	13,897	43,618	36,514		
Total	\$164,500	\$173,512	\$479,673	\$516,178		
Operating Income:						
Truckload	\$5,508	\$15,983	\$22,558	\$46,799		
Other	1,829	923	5,144	1,840		
Unallocated Corporate Overhead	(1,891)	(2,277)	(7,521)	(5,193)		
Total	\$5,446	\$14,629	\$20,181	\$43,446		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Note 4. Income Taxes

Income tax expense varies from the amount computed by applying the federal corporate income tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes primarily due to state income taxes, net of federal income tax effect, adjusted for permanent differences, the most significant of which is the effect of the per diem pay structure for drivers. Drivers who meet the requirements and elect to receive per diem are generally required to receive non-taxable per diem pay in lieu of a portion of their taxable wages. This per diem program increases our drivers' net pay per mile, after taxes, while decreasing gross pay, before taxes. As a result, salaries, wages, and related expenses are slightly lower and our effective income tax rate is higher than the statutory rate. Generally, as pre-tax income or loss increases, the impact of the driver per diem program on our effective income tax rate decreases, because aggregate per diem pay becomes smaller in relation to pre-tax income, while in periods where earnings are at or near breakeven the impact of the per diem program on our effective income tax rate is significant. Due to the partially nondeductible effect of per diem pay, our tax rate will fluctuate in future periods based on fluctuations in earnings.

Our liability recorded for uncertain tax positions as of September 30, 2016 decreased approximately \$0.4 million since December 31, 2015.

The net deferred tax liability of \$75.7 million primarily relates to differences in cumulative book versus tax depreciation of property and equipment, partially off-set by net operating loss carryovers and insurance claims that have been reserved but not paid. The carrying value of our deferred tax assets assumes that we will be able to generate, based on certain estimates and assumptions, sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to utilize these deferred tax benefits. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to establish a valuation allowance against the carrying value of the deferred tax assets, which would result in additional income tax expense. On a periodic basis, we assess the need for adjustment of the valuation allowance. Based on forecasted taxable income resulting from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, primarily generated by accelerated depreciation for tax purposes in prior periods, and tax planning strategies available to us, a valuation allowance has been established at September 30, 2016, for \$1.2 million related to certain state net operating loss carry-forwards. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to modify our valuation allowance against the carrying value of the deferred tax assets.

Note 5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Accordingly, fair value is a market-based measurement that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. The fair value of the hedge derivative liability was determined based on quotes from the counterparty which were verified by comparing them to the exchange on which the related futures are traded, adjusted for counterparty credit risk. The fair value of our interest rate swap agreement is determined using the market-standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed-cash payments and the discounted expected variable-cash receipts. The variable-cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves. These analyses reflect the contractual terms of the swap, including the period to maturity, and use observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. The fair value calculation also includes an amount for risk of non-performance of our counterparties using "significant unobservable inputs" such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default, which we have determined to be insignificant to the overall fair value of our interest rate swap agreement. A three-tier fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the inputs in measuring fair value as follows:

- Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
- Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

(in thousands)

Hedge derivative liability

Fair Value of Derivatives

Quoted Prices in Active Markets (Level 1)

Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)

Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

September December

30, 2016

\$(12,957) \$ (28,434)

- - -

Our financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, commodity contracts, accounts payable, debt, and an interest rate swap. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and current debt approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. Included in accounts receivable is \$19.3 million and \$18.9 million of factoring receivables at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, net of a \$0.1 million and a \$0.2 million allowance for bad debt for each respective year. We advance approximately 85% to 95% of each receivable factored and retain the remainder as collateral for collection issues that might arise. The retained amounts are returned to the clients after the related receivable has been collected, net of any applicable fees and interest owed to us for the advance. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the retained amounts related to factored receivables totaled \$0.4 million and were included in accounts payable in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Our clients are smaller trucking companies that factor their receivables to us for a fee to facilitate faster cash flow. We evaluate each client's customer base under predefined criteria. The carrying value of the factored receivables approximates the fair value, as the receivables are generally repaid directly to us by the client's customer within 30-40 days due to the combination of the short-term nature of the financing transaction and the underlying quality of the receivables.

Interest rates that are currently available to us for issuance of long-term debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate the fair value of our long-term debt, which primarily consists of revenue equipment installment notes. The fair value of our revenue equipment installment notes approximated the carrying value at September 30, 2016, as the weighted average interest rate on these notes approximates the market rate for similar debt. Borrowings under our Credit Facility (as defined herein) approximate fair value due to the variable interest rate on that facility. Additionally, commodity contracts, which are accounted for as hedge derivatives, as discussed in Note 6, are valued based on quotes from the counterparty, which were verified by comparing them to the forward rate of the specific indices upon which the contract is being settled and adjusted for counterparty credit risk using available market information and valuation methodologies. The fair value of our interest rate swap agreement is determined using the market-standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed-cash payments and the discounted expected variable-cash receipts. The variable-cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves. These analyses reflect the contractual terms of the swap, including the period to maturity and use observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. The fair value calculation also includes an amount for risk of non-performance of our counterparties using "significant unobservable inputs" such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default, which we have determined to be insignificant to the overall fair value of our interest rate swap agreement.

Note 6. Derivative Instruments

We engage in activities that expose us to market risks, including the effects of changes in fuel prices and in interest rates. Financial exposures are evaluated as an integral part of our risk management program, which seeks, from time-to-time, to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of fuel markets and interest rate risk may have on operating results.

In an effort to seek to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel fuel prices, we periodically enter into various derivative instruments, including forward futures swap contracts (which we refer to as "fuel hedge contracts"). Historically diesel fuel has not been a traded commodity on the futures market so heating oil has been used as a substitute, as prices for both generally move in similar directions. In more recent years, however, we have been able to enter into hedging contracts with respect to both heating oil and ultra-low-sulfur diesel ("ULSD"). Under these contracts, we pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating oil or ULSD and receive the monthly average price of New York heating oil per the New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") and Gulf Coast ULSD, respectively. The retrospective and prospective regression analyses provided that changes in the prices of diesel fuel and heating oil and diesel fuel and ULSD were each deemed to be highly effective based on the relevant authoritative guidance. We do not engage in speculative transactions, nor do we hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In August 2015, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of \$28.0 million, which was designated as a hedge against the variability in future interest payments due on the debt associated with the purchase of our corporate headquarters as described in Note 7. The terms of the swap agreement effectively convert the variable rate interest payments on this note to a fixed rate of 4.2% through maturity on August 1, 2035. Because the critical terms of the swap and hedged item coincide, in accordance with the requirements of ASC 815, the change in the fair value of the derivative is expected to exactly offset changes in the expected cash flows due to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate over the term of the debt instrument, and therefore no ongoing assessment of effectiveness is required. The fair value of the swap agreement that was in effect at September 30, 2016, of approximately \$3.0 million, is included in other liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet, and is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. Additionally, \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations as additional interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, related to changes in interest rates during such periods. Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of September 30, 2016, we expect to reclassify losses of approximately \$0.3 million, net of tax, on derivative instruments from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations during the next twelve months due to changes in interest rates. The amounts actually realized will depend on the fair values as of the date of settlement.

We recognize all derivative instruments at fair value on our condensed consolidated balance sheets. Our derivative instruments are designated as cash flow hedges, thus the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivatives is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and will be reclassified into earnings in the same period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The effective portion of the derivative represents the change in fair value of the hedge that offsets the change in fair value of the hedged item. To the extent the change in the fair value of the hedge does not perfectly offset the change in the fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately recognized in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Ineffectiveness is calculated using the cumulative dollar offset method as an estimate of the difference in the expected cash flows of the respective fuel hedge contracts (heating oil or ULSD) compared to the changes in the all-in cash outflows required for the diesel fuel purchases.

At September 30, 2016, we had fuel hedge contracts on approximately 3.0 million gallons for the remainder of 2016, or approximately 26.5% of our projected remaining 2016 fuel requirements, approximately 12.1 million gallons for 2017, or approximately 26.5% of our projected 2017 fuel requirements, and approximately 7.6 million gallons for 2018, or approximately 16.6% of our projected 2018 fuel requirements.

The fair value of the fuel hedge contracts that were in effect at September 30, 2016, of approximately \$9.9 million is included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. Changes in the fair values of these instruments can vary dramatically based on changes in the underlying commodity prices. For example, during the third quarter of 2016, market "spot" prices for ULSD peaked at a high of approximately \$1.52 per gallon and hit a low price of approximately \$1.20 per gallon. During the same 2015 quarter, market "spot" prices ranged from a high of \$1.77 per gallon to a low of \$1.32 per gallon. Market price changes can be driven by factors such as supply and demand, inventory levels, weather events, refinery capacity, political agendas, the value of the U.S. dollar, geopolitical events, and general economic conditions, among other items.

Additionally, \$4.0 million and \$13.1 million were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations as additional fuel expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, related to losses on fuel hedge contracts that expired. Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of September 30, 2016, and the expected timing of the purchases of the diesel hedged, we expect to reclassify losses of approximately \$4.5 million, net of tax, on derivative instruments from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations during the next twelve months due to the actual diesel fuel purchases. The amounts actually realized will be dependent on the fair values as of the date of settlement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We perform both a prospective and retrospective assessment of the effectiveness of our fuel hedge contracts at inception and quarterly, including assessing the possibility of counterparty default. If we determine that a derivative is no longer expected to be highly effective, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and recognize subsequent changes in the fair value of the hedge in earnings. As a result of our effectiveness assessment at inception and at September 30, 2016, we believe our hedge contracts have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, with the exception of the abovementioned contracts.

Outstanding financial derivative instruments expose us to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to the agreements. We do not expect any of the counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. Our credit exposure related to these financial instruments is represented by the fair value of contracts reported as assets. To manage credit risk, we review each counterparty's audited financial statements, credit ratings, and obtain references as we deem necessary.

Note 7. Debt

Current and long-term debt consisted of the following at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

(in thousands)	September 30, 2016		December 31, 2015	
	Current	Long-Term	Current	Long-Term
Borrowings under Credit Facility	\$-	\$ 15,836	\$-	\$ 3,002
Revenue equipment installment notes with finance companies;				
weighted average interest rate of 3.4% and 3.6% at September 30,				
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, due in monthly				
installments with final maturities at various dates ranging from				
October 2016 to January 2022, secured by related revenue equipment	28,605	133,462	38,461	163,387
Real estate notes; weighted average interest rate of 2.3% and 2.5% at				
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively due in				
monthly installments with fixed maturities at December 2018 and				
August 2035, secured by related real estate	1,214	29,217	1,184	30,124
Deferred loan costs	(264)	(327)	(250)	(456)
Total debt	29,555	178,188	39,395	196,057
Principal portion of capital lease obligations, secured by related				
revenue equipment	\$1,736	\$ 13,693	\$4,031	\$ 10,547
Total debt and capital lease obligations	\$31,291	\$ 191,881	\$43,426	\$ 206,604

We and substantially all of our subsidiaries (collectively, the "Borrowers") are parties to a Third Amended and Restated Credit Facility (the "Credit Facility") with Bank of America, N.A., as agent (the "Agent") and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM," and together with the Agent, the "Lenders").

The Credit Facility is a \$95.0 million revolving credit facility, with an uncommitted accordion feature that, so long as no event of default exists, allows us to request an increase in the revolving credit facility of up to \$50.0 million subject to lender acceptance of the additional funding commitment. The Credit Facility included, within our \$95.0 million revolving credit facility, a letter of credit sub facility in an aggregate amount of \$95.0 million and a swing line sub facility in an aggregate amount equal to the greater of \$10.0 million or 10% of the Lenders' aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility from time-to-time.

Page 14

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In August 2015, we entered into an eleventh amendment to the Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i) amended the "Applicable Margin" to improve the interest rate grid, (ii) improved the unused line fee pricing to 0.25% per annum, retroactive to July 1, 2015 (previously the fee was 0.375% per annum when availability was less than \$50.0 million and 0.5% per annum when availability was at or over such amount), (iii) required each of Driven Analytic Solutions, LLC ("DAS") and Covenant Properties, LLC ("CPI") to be joined to the Credit Agreement as guarantors, (iv) required each of DAS, CPI and Star Properties Exchange, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company, to pledge certain of its assets as security, (v) contained conditional amendments increasing the borrowing base real estate sublimit and lowering the amortization of the real estate sublimit, (vi) made technical amendments to a variety of sections, including without limitation, permitted investments, permitted stock repurchases, permitted indebtedness, and permitted liens, (vii) consented to the purchase of the Company's headquarters, including related financing, and (viii) extended the maturity date from September 2017 to September 2018. In exchange for these amendments, we agreed to pay fees of \$0.2 million. Based on availability as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was no fixed charge coverage requirement.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are classified as either "base rate loans" or "LIBOR loans." Base rate loans accrue interest at a base rate equal to the greater of the Agent's prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.5% to 1.0%; while LIBOR loans accrue interest at LIBOR, plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.5% to 2.0%. The applicable rates are adjusted quarterly based on average pricing availability. The unused line fee is the product of 0.25% times the average daily amount by which the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under the Credit Facility exceed the outstanding principal amount of revolver loans and the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility. The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by us and secured by a pledge of substantially all of our assets, with the notable exclusion of any real estate or revenue equipment pledged under other financing agreements, including revenue equipment installment notes and capital leases.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to a borrowing base limited to the lesser of (A) \$95.0 million, minus the sum of the stated amount of all outstanding letters of credit; or (B) the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receivable, plus (ii) the lesser of (a) 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible revenue equipment, (b) 95% of the net book value of eligible revenue equipment, or (c) 35% of the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under the Credit Facility, plus (iii) the lesser of (a) \$25.0 million or (b) 65% of the appraised fair market value of eligible real estate. We had \$15.8 million outstanding under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2016, undrawn letters of credit outstanding of approximately \$26.8 million, and available borrowing capacity of \$47.6 million. The interest rate on outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2016, was 4.0% on \$3.3 million of base rate loans and 2.1% on \$12.5 million of LIBOR loans.

The Credit Facility includes usual and customary events of default for a facility of this nature and provides that, upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default, payment of all amounts payable under the Credit Facility may be accelerated, and the Lenders' commitments may be terminated. If an event of default occurs under the Credit Facility and the Lenders cause all of the outstanding debt obligations under the Credit Facility to become due and payable, this could result in a default under other debt instruments that contain acceleration or cross-default provisions. The Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things, debt, dividends, liens, acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course of business, and affiliate transactions. Failure to comply with the covenants and restrictions set forth in the Credit Facility could result in an event of default.

Capital lease obligations are utilized to finance a portion of our revenue equipment and are entered into with certain finance companies who are not parties to our Credit Facility. The leases in effect at September 30, 2016 terminate in October 2016 through September 2022 and contain guarantees of the residual value of the related equipment by us. As such, the residual guarantees are included in the related debt balance as a balloon payment at the end of the related term, as well as included in the future minimum capital lease payments. These lease agreements require us to pay

personal property taxes, maintenance, and operating expenses.

Pricing for the revenue equipment installment notes is quoted by the respective financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers and other lenders at the funding of each group of equipment acquired and include fixed annual rates for new equipment under retail installment contracts. The notes included in the funding are due in monthly installments with final maturities at various dates ranging from October 2016 to January 2022. The notes contain certain requirements regarding payment, insuring of collateral, and other matters, but do not have any financial or other material covenants or events of default except certain notes totaling \$149.2 million are cross-defaulted with the Credit Facility. Additionally, the abovementioned fuel hedge contracts totaling \$9.9 million at September 30, 2016, are cross-defaulted with the Credit Facility. Additional borrowings from the financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers and other lenders are expected to be available to fund new tractors expected to be delivered for the remainder of 2016 and in 2017, while any other property and equipment purchases, including trailers, are expected to be funded with a combination of available cash, notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or from the Credit Facility.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We have two real estate notes secured by the related real estate with fixed maturity at December 2018 and August 2035 for \$3.4 million and \$27.0 million, respectively.

Note 8. Stock-Based Compensation

In February 2013, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved, subject to stockholder approval, a third amendment (the "Third Amendment") to the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Incentive Plan"). The Third Amendment (i) provides that the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock available for grant of awards under the Incentive Plan from and after May 29, 2013, shall not exceed 750,000, plus any remaining available shares of the 800,000 shares previously made available under the second amendment to the Incentive Plan (the "Second Amendment"), and any expirations, forfeitures, cancellations, or certain other terminations of shares approved for grant under the Third Amendment or the Second Amendment previously reserved, plus any remaining expirations, forfeitures, cancellations, or certain other terminations of such shares, and (ii) re-sets the term of the Incentive Plan to expire with respect to the ability to grant new awards on June 30, 2023. The Compensation Committee also re-approved, subject to stockholder re-approval, the material terms of the performance-based goals under the Incentive Plan so that certain incentive awards granted thereunder would continue to qualify as exempt "performance-based compensation" under Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m). The Company's stockholders approved the adoption of the Third Amendment and re-approved the material terms of the performance-based goals under the Incentive Plan at the Company's 2013 Annual Meeting held on May 29, 2013.

The Incentive Plan permits annual awards of shares of our Class A common stock to executives, other key employees, consultants, non-employee directors, and eligible participants under various types of options, restricted stock awards, or other equity instruments. At September 30, 2016, 611,933 of the abovementioned 1,550,000 shares were available for award under the Incentive Plan. No participant in the Incentive Plan may receive awards of any type of equity instruments in any calendar-year that relates to more than 200,000 shares of our Class A common stock. No awards may be made under the Incentive Plan after June 30, 2023.

Included in salaries, wages, and related expenses within the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, is stock-based compensation expense of approximately \$0.3 million and \$0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. All stock compensation expense recorded in 2016 and 2015 relates to restricted shares, given no options were granted during these periods. An additional \$0.2 million of stock-based compensation was recorded in general supplies and expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for each of the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, as this amount relates to the issuance of restricted stock to non-employee directors.

The Incentive Plan allows participants to pay the federal and state minimum statutory tax withholding requirements related to awards that vest or allows participants to deliver to us shares of Class A common stock having a fair market value equal to the minimum amount of such required withholding taxes. To satisfy withholding requirements for shares that vested through September 30, 2016, certain participants elected to forfeit receipt of 26,406 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted average per share price of \$22.00 based on the closing price of our Class A common stock on the date the shares vested in 2016, in lieu of the federal and state minimum statutory tax withholding requirements. We remitted \$0.6 million to the proper taxing authorities in satisfaction of the employees' minimum statutory withholding requirements.

Note 9. Equity Method Investment

TEL is a tractor and trailer equipment leasing company and used equipment reseller. We have not guaranteed any of TEL's debt and have no obligation to provide funding, services, or assets. In May 2016, the operating agreement with TEL was amended to, among other things, remove the previously agreed to fixed date purchase options. Our option to

acquire up to the remaining 51% of TEL would have expired May 31, 2016, and TEL's majority owners would have received the option to purchase our ownership in TEL. The options previously in effect were eliminated, and we are discussing with TEL's other owners a replacement option structure and alternatives. TEL's majority owners are generally restricted from transferring their interests in TEL, other than to certain permitted transferees, without our consent. During the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, we sold tractors and trailers to TEL totaling \$0.4 million and \$6.2 million, respectively, and received \$1.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, for providing various maintenance services, certain back-office functions, and for miscellaneous equipment. We recognized a net reversal of previously deferred gains totaling \$0.2 million and less than \$0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, representing 49% of the gains on units sold to TEL less any gains previously deferred and recognized when the equipment was subsequently sold to a third party. The deferred gains, totaling \$0.6 million at September 30, 2016, are being carried as a reduction in our investment in TEL. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had a receivable from TEL for \$6.9 million and \$5.3 million, respectively, related to cash disbursements made pursuant to a cash management agreement and related to providing various maintenance services, certain back-office functions, and for miscellaneous equipment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We have accounted for our investment in TEL using the equity method of accounting and thus our financial results include our proportionate share of TEL's 2016 net income through September 30, 2016, or \$2.5 million. Our investment in TEL, totaling \$17.9 million and \$16.8 million, at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, is included in other assets in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

See TEL's summarized financial information below:

		As of	As of	
		September	December	•
(in thou	ısands)	30, 2016	31, 2015	
Current	Assets	\$ 18,114	\$ 14,275	
Non-cu	rrent Assets	150,925	125,782	
Current	Liabilities	14,181	29,644	
Non-cu	rrent Liabilities	126,876	84,516	
Total E	quity	\$ 27,982	\$25,897	
	For the	For the	For the	For the
	three	three	nine	nine
	months	months	months	months
	ended	ended	ended	ended
	September	September	September	September
	30, 2016	30, 2015	30, 2016	30, 2015
Revenue	\$ 29,359	\$ 23,196	\$ 72,559	\$ 86,611
Operating Expens	ses 27,096	20,125	64,301	76,541
Operating Income	\$ 2,263	\$ 3,071	\$ 8,258	\$ 10,070
Net Income	\$ 1,165	\$ 2,180	\$ 4,977	\$ 7,694

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

From time-to-time, we are a party to ordinary, routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, most of which involves claims for personal injury and property damage incurred in connection with the transportation of freight.

We maintain insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight for amounts in excess of certain self-insured retentions. In management's opinion, our potential exposure under pending legal proceedings is adequately provided for in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio issued a pre-trial decision in a lawsuit against our Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc. subsidiary ("SRT") relating to a cargo claim incurred in 2008. The court awarded the plaintiff approximately \$5.9 million plus prejudgment interest and costs and denied a cross-motion for summary judgment by SRT. Previously, the court had ruled in favor of SRT on all but one count before overturning its earlier decision and ruling in favor of the plaintiff. SRT filed a Notice of Appeal with the U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals on September 24, 2014. On November 5, 2015, the Sixth Circuit reversed the district court in part, finding that the plaintiff could not recover under two of its causes of action. The Sixth Circuit remanded the proceedings to the district court for further factual determinations relating to whether the plaintiff could recover under a third cause of action. The case is currently pending resolution of motions for summary judgment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Based on our present knowledge of the facts and, in certain cases, advice of outside counsel, management believes the resolution of open claims and pending litigation, taking into account existing reserves, is not likely to have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

We had \$26.8 million and \$31.4 million of outstanding and undrawn letters of credit as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The letters of credit are maintained primarily to support our insurance programs.

Note 11. Other Comprehensive Income ("OCI")

OCI is comprised of net income and other adjustments, including changes in the fair value of certain derivative financial instruments qualifying as cash flow hedges.

The following table summarizes the change in the components of our OCI balance for the periods presented (in thousands; presented net of tax):

	Amount	Amount	
	Reclassified	Reclassified	l
	from OCI	from OCI	
	for the three	for the nine	
	months	months	
	ended	ended	Affected Line Item
Details about OCI	September	September	in the Statement of
Components	30, 2016	30, 2016	Operations
Losses on cash flow hedges			
Commodity derivative contracts	\$ 4,009	\$ 13,125	Fuel expense
	(1,543)	(5,053)Income tax benefit
	\$ 2,466	\$ 8,072	Net of tax
Interest rate swap contract	\$ 136	\$ 421	Interest expense
	(53)	(162)Income tax benefit
	\$ 83	\$ 259	Net of tax

Page 18

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., a Nevada holding company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries. References in this report to "we," "us," "our," the "Company," and similar expressions refer to Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

This report contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical or current fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; any statements of belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. In this Form 10-Q, statements relating to expected earnings per diluted share, expected sources of working capital and liquidity (including our mix of debt, capital leases, and operating leases as means of financing revenue equipment) and the adequacy of such sources to fulfill our needs, expected capital expenditures (including investments in revenue equipment), future fluctuations of cash flows, future trucking capacity, expected freight demand, volumes, and shipping levels, future rates and prices, future utilization, future depreciation and amortization, expected compensation, incentives, and other future expenses related to drivers and other employees, expected purchased transportation costs, including those related to independent contractors, expected fuel prices and net fuel costs, strategies for managing fuel costs, the effectiveness and impact of, and cash flows relating to, our fuel hedging contracts and fuel surcharge programs, future fluctuations in operations and maintenance expenses, future fleet size and management, expected tax expense and effective income tax rates, potential defaults under our Credit Facility leading to accelerated obligations, termination of commitments, and defaults under other debt instruments, the extent to which we will be required to test our fixed charge covenant under our Credit Facility, future operating lease expenditures, the market value of equipment subject to operating or capital leases relative to our payment obligations under such operating leases (including residual value guarantees), future market conditions for used equipment, future changes in the useful life or salvage value of equipment, the anticipated impact of our investment in Transport Enterprise Leasing, Inc. ("TEL"), the anticipated impact of existing and future industry regulations, and anticipated levels of and fluctuations relating to insurance and claims expense, including resolution of a 2008 cargo claim and our commutation of any current policies, among others, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of terms or phrases such as "believe," "may," "could," "expects," "estimates," "projects," "anticipates," "plans," "intends," and similar terms and phrases. Such statements are based on currently available operating, financial, and competitive information. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. Readers should review and consider the factors discussed in "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, along with various disclosures in our press releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such

statement is based.

Executive Overview

The third quarter of 2016 was characterized by moderate freight volumes and a depressed market for used tractors. While we saw some strengthening of supply-demand dynamics in certain of our service offerings as compared to the second quarter of 2016, our SRT subsidiary has continued to struggle as we attempt to re-engineer our freight network in a difficult environment. The main positives in the third quarter were 1) revenue growth and improved operating profitability from our Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc. subsidiary ("Solutions"), 2) a 4.1% sequential improved revenue per tractor at our Covenant Transport subsidiary, 3) a 1.9% sequential improved revenue per tractor at our Star subsidiary, and 4) our tangible book value per basic share increased 15.3% to \$12.38 from \$10.74 a year ago. The main negatives in the quarter were 1) increased operating costs on a per mile basis, including unfavorable capital and casualty insurance costs, 2) a 5.3% increase in Department of Transportation reportable accidents compared to the prior year quarter, and 3) a 4.2% sequential decline in revenue per tractor at our SRT subsidiary resulting in further deterioration in quarterly operating profitability at SRT, while operating at a loss for the third consecutive quarter.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Additional items of note for the third quarter of 2016 include the following:

Total revenue of \$164.5 million, a decrease of 5.2% compared with the third quarter of 2015 and freight revenue (which excludes revenue from fuel surcharges) of \$148.2 million, a decrease of 3.4% compared with the third quarter of 2015;

Operating income of \$5.4 million and an operating ratio of 96.3%, compared with operating income of \$14.6 million and an operating ratio of 90.5% in the third quarter of 2015;

Net income of \$2.9 million, or \$0.16 per diluted share, compared with net income of \$7.6 million, or \$0.42 per diluted share, in the third quarter of 2015;

With available borrowing capacity of \$47.6 million under our Credit Facility as of September 30, 2016, we do not expect to be required to test our fixed charge covenant in the foreseeable future;

Solutions' total revenue increased by 14.4% to \$15.9 million, compared to \$13.9 million for the third quarter of 2015, and Solutions' operating income increased to \$1.8 million compared to the 2015 quarter at \$0.9 million;

Our equity investment in TEL provided \$0.5 million of pre-tax earnings compared to \$1.0 million in the third quarter of 2015;

Since December 31, 2015, total indebtedness, net of cash and including the present value of off-balance sheet lease obligations, has decreased by \$25.9 million to \$238.2 million; and

Stockholders' equity at September 30, 2016, was \$225.4 million and our tangible book value was \$238.2 million, or \$12.38 per basic share.

For the fourth quarter of 2016, our focus will be on executing on the additional commitments from peak season customers at peak season rates, which are usually higher than non-peak season rates, while ensuring all of our valuable customers' shipping needs are met, and increasing the percentage of our trucks with drivers. Regarding SRT's profitability improvement plan, we are focusing this quarter on transitioning to new leadership, building lane density and optimizing the freight network, removing excess equipment to improve capital costs, improving on the excellence of our customer service, and enhancing the culture and employee morale. We will also continue our focus on attracting and retaining safe, service-oriented professional truck drivers, which remains among the greatest challenges for our industry and for us.

Revenue and Expenses

We focus on targeted markets throughout the United States where we believe our service standards can provide a competitive advantage. We are a major carrier for transportation companies such as freight forwarders, less-than-truckload carriers, and third-party logistics providers that require a high level of service to support their businesses, as well as for traditional truckload customers such as manufacturers, retailers, and food and beverage shippers. We also generate revenue through a subsidiary that provides other freight services, including brokerage and accounts receivable factoring.

We have one reportable segment, our asset-based truckload services, which we refer to as Truckload.

The Truckload segment consists of three asset-based operating fleets that are aggregated because they have similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria. The three operating fleets that comprise our Truckload

segment are as follows: (i) Covenant Transport, Inc., our historical flagship operation, which provides expedited long haul, dedicated, temperature-controlled, and regional solo-driver service; (ii) Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., which provides primarily long-haul, regional, and intermodal temperature-controlled service; and (iii) Star Transportation, Inc., which provides regional solo-driver and dedicated services, primarily in the southeastern United States.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

In our Truckload segment, we primarily generate revenue by transporting freight for our customers. Generally, we are paid a predetermined rate per mile for our truckload services. We enhance our truckload revenue by charging for tractor and trailer detention, loading and unloading activities, and other specialized services, as well as through the collection of fuel surcharges to mitigate the impact of increases in the cost of fuel. The main factors that affect our Truckload revenue are the revenue per mile we receive from our customers, the percentage of miles for which we are compensated, and the number of shipments and miles we generate. These factors relate, among other things, to the general level of economic activity in the United States, shipper inventory levels, specific customer demand, the level of capacity in the trucking industry, and driver availability.

Our Truckload segment also derives revenue from fuel surcharges, loading and unloading activities, equipment detention, and other accessorial services. We measure revenue before fuel surcharges, or "freight revenue," because we believe that fuel surcharges tend to be a volatile source of revenue. We believe the exclusion of fuel surcharges affords a more consistent basis for comparing the results of operations from period-to-period. Nonetheless, freight revenue represents a non-GAAP financial measure. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed on the discussion of freight revenue, and discussions of freight revenue should be considered in combination with discussions of total revenue. For each expense item discussed below, we have provided a table setting forth the relevant expense first as a percentage of total revenue, and then as a percentage of freight revenue.

The main expenses that impact the profitability of our Truckload segment are the variable costs of transporting freight for our customers. These costs include fuel expenses, driver-related expenses, such as wages, benefits, training, and recruitment, and purchased transportation expenses, which primarily include compensating independent contractors. Expenses that have both fixed and variable components include maintenance and tire expense and our total cost of insurance and claims. These expenses generally vary with the miles we travel, but also have a controllable component based on safety, self-insured retention versus insurance premiums, whether we commute insurance policies after the end of certain policy years, fleet age, efficiency, and other factors. Our main fixed costs include rentals and depreciation of long-term assets, such as revenue equipment and terminal facilities, and the compensation of non-driver personnel.

Our main measure of profitability is operating ratio, which we define as operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge revenue, divided by total revenue, less fuel surcharge revenue, or freight revenue.

We operate tractors driven by a single driver and also tractors assigned to two-person driver teams. Our single driver tractors generally operate in shorter lengths-of-haul, generate fewer miles per tractor, and experience more non-revenue miles, but the lower productive miles are expected to be offset by generally higher revenue per loaded mile and the reduced expense of compensating only one driver. In contrast, our two-person driver tractors generally operate in longer lengths-of-haul, generate greater miles per tractor, and experience fewer non-revenue miles, but we typically receive lower revenue per loaded mile and incur higher expenses associated with compensating both drivers. We expect operating statistics and expenses to shift with the mix of single and team operations.

In addition, our Solutions subsidiary has service offerings ancillary to our Truckload operations, including freight brokerage service directly and through freight brokerage agents who are paid a commission for the freight they provide and accounts receivable factoring. These operations consist of several operating segments, which neither individually nor in the aggregate meet the quantitative or qualitative reporting thresholds.

Revenue Equipment

At September 30, 2016, we operated 2,581 tractors and 7,090 trailers. Of such tractors, 2,215 were owned, 139 were financed under operating leases, and 227 were provided by independent contractors, who provide and drive their own tractors. Of such trailers, 4,627 were owned, 1,733 were financed under operating leases, and 730 were financed

under capital leases. We finance a small portion of our tractor fleet and larger portion of our trailer fleet with off-balance sheet operating leases. These leases generally run for a period of three to five years for tractors and five to seven years for trailers. At September 30, 2016, our fleet had an average tractor age of 1.7 years and an average trailer age of 4.3 years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Independent contractors provide a tractor and a driver and are responsible for all operating expenses in exchange for a fixed payment per mile. We do not have the capital outlay of purchasing or leasing the tractor. The payments to independent contractors and the financing of equipment under operating leases are recorded in revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation. Expenses associated with owned equipment, such as interest and depreciation, and expenses associated with employee drivers, including driver compensation, fuel, and other expenses, are not incurred with respect to independent contractors. Obtaining equipment from independent contractors and under operating leases effectively shifts financing expenses from interest to "above the line" operating expenses, and as such, we evaluate our efficiency using net margin as well as operating ratio.

RESULTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS

COMPARISON OF THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 TO THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

Revenue

	Three months ended		Nine months ended		
	September 30,		September 30,		
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Revenue:					
Freight revenue	\$148,229	\$153,522	\$437,344	\$449,003	
Fuel surcharge revenue	16,271	19,990	42,329	67,175	
Total revenue	\$164,500	\$173,512	\$479,673	\$516,178	

For the quarter ended September 30, 2016, total revenue decreased \$9.0 million, or 5.2%, to \$164.5 million from \$173.5 million in the 2015 quarter. Freight revenue decreased \$5.3 million, or 3.4%, to \$148.2 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, from \$153.5 million in the 2015 quarter, while fuel surcharge revenue decreased \$3.7 million quarter-over-quarter. The decrease in freight revenue resulted from a \$7.3 million decrease in freight revenues from our Truckload segment, partially offset by a \$2.0 million increase in revenues from Solutions. The \$7.3 million decrease in Truckload freight revenue relates to a 1.2% decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week. The decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 is the result of a decrease in average freight revenue per total mile of approximately 1.0% and a decrease in average miles per unit of 0.2% compared to the 2015 period as a result of a lower percentage of seated units, partially offset by an increase in the percentage of team-driven units.

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016, total revenue decreased \$36.5 million, or 7.1%, to \$479.7 million from \$516.2 million in the 2015 period. Freight revenue decreased \$11.7 million, or 2.6%, to \$437.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from \$449.0 million in the 2015 period, while fuel surcharge revenue decreased \$24.8 million period-over-period. The decrease in freight revenue resulted from an \$18.8 million decrease in freight revenues from our Truckload segment, partially offset by a \$7.1 million increase in revenue from Solutions. The \$18.8 million decrease in Truckload freight revenue relates to a 1.7% decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week and a 3.8% decrease in our average number of units during the period partially offset by a \$1.6 million increase in freight revenue from our refrigerated intermodal service offering compared to the same 2015 period. The decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 is the result of a 1.6% decrease in average miles per unit, partially offset by a 0.2% increase in average revenue per total mile when compared to the same period in 2015. Team driven units increased approximately 4.8% to an average of 994 for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 compared to an average of 948 teams during the same 2015 period.

Solutions' revenue increased \$2.0 million quarter-over-quarter and \$7.1 million period-over-period, as a result of growth during the latter portion of 2015 that has been sustained through 2016.

For the fourth quarter of 2016, we expect to see robust seasonal improvements related to e-commerce freight; however, we don't expect revenue or profitability to improve to the same extent as in the 2015 period. Our expectations for 2017 are for the first half of the year to be similar to our most recent six months of 2016 with an expectation of improvement during the latter portion of the year.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

For comparison purposes in the discussion below, we use total revenue and freight revenue (total revenue less fuel surcharge revenue) when discussing changes as a percentage of revenue. As it relates to the comparison of expenses to freight revenue, we believe removing fuel surcharge revenue, which is sometimes a volatile source of revenue, affords a more consistent basis for comparing the results of operations from period-to-period. Nonetheless, freight revenue represents a non-GAAP financial measure. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed on the discussion of freight revenue, and discussions of freight revenue should be considered in combination with discussions of total revenue. For each expense item discussed below, we have provided a table setting forth the relevant expense first as a percentage of total revenue, and then as a percentage of freight revenue.

Salaries, wages, and related expenses

	Three mo	nths					
	ended		Nine months ended				
	Septembe	er 30,	September 30,				
	2016	2015	2016	2015			
Salaries, wages, and related expenses	\$57,972	\$60,241	\$171,666	\$177,624			
% of total revenue	35.2	% 34.7 %	35.8 %	34.4 %			
% of freight revenue	39.1	% 39.2 %	39.3 %	39.6 %			

Salaries, wages, and related expenses decreased approximately \$2.3 million, or 3.8%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, salaries, wages, and related expenses increased to 35.2% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 34.7% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, salaries, wages, and related expenses remained relatively even at 39.1% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to 39.2% for the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 salaries, wages, and related expenses decreased approximately \$6.0 million, or 3.4%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, salaries, wages, and related expenses increased to 35.8% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from 34.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, salaries, wages, and related expenses declined to 39.3% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 39.6% in the same period in 2015.

The decrease in salaries, wages, and related expenses for both the quarter and nine-month period is related to fewer trucks and thus fewer drivers and reduced incentive compensation due to the decline in year-over-year results. The changes in salaries, wages, and related expenses as a percentage of freight and total revenue for the quarter and nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 are primarily due to a higher percentage of our fleet comprised of team-driven tractors and employee pay increases since the second quarter of 2015, partially offset by reduced group health costs and the reversal of an incentive compensation accrual due to lower likelihood of achievement for 2016.

Going forward, we believe salaries, wages, and related expenses will increase as a result of a tight driver market, wage inflation, higher healthcare costs, and, in certain periods, increased incentive compensation based on performance. In particular, we expect driver pay to increase as we look to reduce the number of unseated trucks in our fleet in a tight market for drivers. Additionally, while we have no certainty regarding across-the-board driver pay increases, when the freight market allows for an increase in rates that exceeds inflation, we would expect to, as we have historically, pass a portion of those rate increases on to our professional drivers. Salaries, wages, and related expenses will fluctuate to some extent based on the percentage of revenue generated by independent contractors and our Solutions business, for which payments are reflected in the purchased transportation line item.

Fuel expense

Three months ended Nine months ended September 30, September 30, 2016 2015 2016 2015 \$75,989 Total fuel expense \$26,436 \$30,526 \$94,931 % % of total revenue 16.1 17.6 % 15.8 % 18.4 %

We receive a fuel surcharge on our loaded miles from most shippers; however, this does not cover all of our fuel costs or the entirety of any increase in fuel prices for several reasons, including the following: surcharges cover only loaded miles we operate; surcharges do not cover miles driven out-of-route by our drivers; and surcharges typically do not cover refrigeration unit fuel usage or fuel burned by tractors while idling. Moreover, most of our business relating to shipments obtained from freight brokers does not carry a fuel surcharge. Finally, fuel surcharges vary in the percentage of reimbursement offered, and not all surcharges fully compensate for fuel price increases even on loaded miles.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The rate of fuel price changes also can have an impact on results. Most fuel surcharges are based on the average fuel price as published by the Department of Energy ("DOE") for the week prior to the shipment, meaning we typically bill customers in the current week based on the previous week's applicable index. Therefore, in times of increasing fuel prices, we do not recover as much as we are currently paying for fuel. In periods of declining prices, the opposite is true. ULSD prices as measured by the DOE averaged approximately \$0.26 per gallon and \$0.54 per gallon lower, respectively, for the quarter and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 compared with the same 2015 quarter and period.

Additionally, \$4.0 million and \$13.1 million, respectively, were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations as additional fuel expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, related to losses on fuel-hedging contracts that expired. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, \$4.2 million and \$10.7 million, respectively were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations as additional fuel expense. At September 30, 2016, there was no material ineffectiveness on existing contracts. The ineffectiveness was calculated using the cumulative dollar offset method as an estimate of the difference in the expected cash flows of the respective fuel hedge contracts compared to the changes in the all-in cash outflows required for the diesel fuel purchases.

To measure the effectiveness of our fuel surcharge program, we subtract fuel surcharge revenue (other than the fuel surcharge revenue we reimburse to independent contractors and other third parties which is included in purchased transportation) from our fuel expense. The result is referred to as net fuel expense. Our net fuel expense as a percentage of freight revenue is affected by the cost of diesel fuel net of fuel surcharge revenue, the percentage of miles driven by company trucks, our fuel economy, our percentage of deadhead miles, for which we do not receive fuel surcharge revenues, and the net impact of fuel hedging gains and losses that are reclassified as an addition to or reduction of fuel expense. Net fuel expense is shown below:

	Three mor	nths			
	ended		Nine mon	ths ended	
	Septembe	r 30,	September 30,		
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Total fuel surcharge	\$16,271	\$19,990	\$42,329	\$67,175	
Less: Fuel surcharge revenue reimbursed to independent contractors					
and other third parties	1,687	1,984	4,536	6,050	
Company fuel surcharge revenue	\$14,584	\$18,006	\$37,793	\$61,125	
Total fuel expense	\$26,436	\$30,526	\$75,989	\$94,931	
Less: Company fuel surcharge revenue	14,584	18,006	37,793	61,125	
Net fuel expense	\$11,852	\$12,520	\$38,196	\$33,806	
% of freight revenue	8.0 %	8.2	8.7 %	7.5 %	

Total fuel expense decreased approximately \$4.1 million, or 13.4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, total fuel expense decreased to 16.1% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 17.6% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, total fuel expense decreased to 17.8% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 19.9% in the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, total fuel expense decreased approximately \$18.9 million, or 20.0%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, total fuel expense decreased to 15.8% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 18.4% in the 2015 period. As a percentage of freight revenue, total fuel expense decreased to 17.4% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 21.1% in the 2015 period.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

These decreases for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 are primarily due to improved fuel pricing that was less volatile than the 2015 quarter. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, these decreases are due to improved fuel pricing in the 2016 period, more fuel-efficient engines, and more freight brokered to third parties during the first six months of 2016. These decreases were partially offset by net losses from fuel hedging transactions of \$4.0 million and \$13.1 million respectively, in the 2016 quarter and period compared to net losses of \$3.9 million and \$9.5 million, respectively, in the 2015 quarter and period.

Net fuel expense decreased \$0.7 million, or 5.3%, and increased \$4.4 million, or 13.0%, respectively, for the quarter and nine months ended September 30, 2016, as compared to the same 2015 quarter and period. As a percentage of freight revenue, net fuel expense decreased to 8.0% and increased to 8.7%, respectively, for the quarter and nine months ended September 30, 2016, as compared to the same 2015 quarter and period. The change in net fuel expense is primarily due to decreased fuel surcharge revenue as a result of the decrease in the average cost per gallon of ULSD noted above, partially offset by decreased fuel surcharge recovery and increased fuel hedging losses. The decrease in fuel surcharge recovery was primarily due to the softer freight market, which has pushed us to accept a higher percentage of brokered freight where we get minimal fuel surcharge recovery.

We expect to continue managing our idle time and truck speeds, investing in more fuel-efficient tractors to improve our miles per gallon, and partnering with customers to adjust fuel surcharge programs that are inadequate to recover a fair portion of fuel costs. In addition, we expect to continue using fuel price hedges periodically to mitigate the partial volatility in fuel prices relating to the portion of our fuel usage that is not covered by fuel surcharges, which may result in favorable or unfavorable results in a given quarter depending on market fuel prices. Going forward, our net fuel expense is expected to fluctuate as a percentage of revenue based on factors such as diesel fuel prices, percentage recovered from fuel surcharge programs, percentage of uncompensated miles, percentage of revenue generated by team-driven tractors (which tend to generate higher miles and lower revenue per mile, thus proportionately more fuel cost as a percentage of revenue), percentage of revenue generated by refrigerated operation (which uses diesel fuel for refrigeration, but usually does not recover fuel surcharges on refrigeration fuel), percentage of revenue generated from independent contractors, the success of fuel efficiency initiatives, and gains and losses on fuel hedging contracts. We are continuing to focus our efforts on increasing our ability to recover fuel surcharges under our customer contracts for fuel used in refrigeration units. If these efforts are successful, they could give rise to an increase in fuel surcharges recovered and a corresponding decrease in net fuel expense.

Operations and maintenance

	Three months								
	ended				Nine months ended				
	Septem	30,	September 30,						
	2016		2015		2016		2015		
Operations and maintenance	\$11,359		\$12,728		\$34,227		\$35,666		
% of total revenue	6.9	%	7.3	%	7.1	%	6.9	%	
% of freight revenue	7.7	%	8.3	%	7.8	%	7.9	%	

Operations and maintenance decreased approximately \$1.4 million, or 10.8%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, operations and maintenance decreased to 6.9% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 7.3% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, operations and maintenance decreased to 7.7% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 8.3% in the same quarter in 2015. These changes were primarily the result of a reduction in over, short, and damage claims by shippers, vehicle maintenance expense, and tolls expense, partially offset by an increase in unloading expense related to an account that was brought on during the second quarter.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, operations and maintenance decreased \$1.4 million, or 4.0%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, operations and maintenance increased to 7.1% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 6.9% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, operations and maintenance decreased to 7.8% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 7.9% in the same period in 2015. The changes for the nine-month period were primarily the result of reductions in vehicle maintenance expense, over, short, and damage claims by shippers, and tolls, partially offset by an increase in unloading and other expenses related to an account that was brought on during the second quarter and increased costs for recruiting professional drivers.

Going forward, we believe this category will fluctuate based on several factors, including our continued ability to maintain a relatively young fleet, accident severity and frequency, weather, and the reliability of new and untested revenue equipment models.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation

	Three r	non	ths					
	ended				Nine m	ont	hs ende	d
	September 30,			September 30,				
	2016		2015		2016		2015	
Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation	\$27,83	1	\$27,54	8	\$80,30	8	\$76,71	4
% of total revenue	16.9	%	15.9	%	16.7	%	14.9	%
% of freight revenue	18.8	%	17.9	%	18.4	%	17.1	%

Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased approximately \$0.3 million, or 1.0%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased to 16.9% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 15.9% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased to 18.8% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 17.9% in the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased approximately \$3.6 million, or 4.7%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased to 16.7% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 14.9% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation increased to 18.4% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 17.1% in the same period in 2015.

These increases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 were primarily the result of the increased costs related to the growth of Solutions and our refrigerated intermodal service offering, as well as an increase in the percentage of revenue generated by independent contractors. We expect revenue equipment rentals to decrease going forward as a result of our increase in acquisition of revenue equipment through financed purchases or capital leases rather than operating leases. As discussed below, this decrease may be partially or fully offset by an increase in purchased transportation as we expect to continue to grow our Solutions and intermodal service offerings.

This expense category will fluctuate with the number and percentage of loads hauled by independent contractors and handled by Solutions, the percentage of our fleet financed with operating leases, the cost to obtain third party transportation services, and growth of our intermodal service offerings, as well as the amount of fuel surcharge revenue passed through to the third party carriers and independent contractors. In addition, the amounts we pay to third-party transportation providers, independent contractors, and intermodal transportation providers will vary depending on capacity, which would have a corresponding impact on this expense category as a percentage of freight revenue absent an offsetting increase in revenue. We continue to actively recruit independent contractors and, if we are successful, we would expect this line item to increase as a percentage of revenue.

Operating taxes and licenses

	ended				Nine months ended			
	Septer	er 30,	September 30,					
	2016		2015		2016		2015	
Operating taxes and licenses	\$2,813	5	\$2,879	9	\$8,40	4	\$8,16	2
% of total revenue	1.7	%	1.7	%	1.8	%	1.6	%
% of freight revenue	1.9	%	1.9	%	1.9	%	1.8	%

For the periods presented, the changes in operating taxes and licenses were not significant as either a percentage of total revenue or freight revenue.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Insurance and claims

	Three	mo						
	ended				Nine n	nontl	ns ende	d
	Septer	nbe	r 30,		September 30,			
	2016 2015		2016		2015			
Insurance and claims	\$8,362	2	\$6,682	2	\$21,98	35	\$21,72	27
% of total revenue	5.1	%	3.9	%	4.6	%	4.2	%
% of freight revenue	5.6	%	4.4	%	5.0	%	4.8	%

Insurance and claims, consisting primarily of premiums and deductible amounts for liability, physical damage, and cargo damage insurance and claims increased approximately \$1.7 million, or 25.1%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, insurance and claims increased to 5.1% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 3.9% in the same quarter of 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, insurance and claims increased to 5.6% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 4.4% in the same quarter in 2015. Insurance and claims per mile cost increased to 10.5 cents per mile in the three months ended September 30, 2016 from 8.0 cents per mile in the same 2015 period. These increases are primarily the result of increased frequency and severity of accidents during the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same 2015 period.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, insurance and claims increased approximately \$0.3 million, or 1.2%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, insurance and claims increased to 4.6% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 4.2% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, insurance and claims increased to 5.0% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 4.8% in the same period in 2015. These changes primarily related to the \$3.6 million auto liability commutation in the second quarter of 2015 partially offset by increased frequency and severity of accidents during the third quarter of 2016. Excluding the 2015 auto liability policy commutation, insurance and claims per mile cost decreased to 9.3 cents per mile in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from 10.1 cents per mile in the same 2015 period.

With our significant self-insured retention (including the increased self-insured retention resulting from our prior policy commutations), insurance and claims expense may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period. Any increase in frequency or severity of claims, or any increase to then existing reserves, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In relation to the 2008 SRT cargo claim reserve, the judgment was partially reversed and the proceedings were remanded to the district court for further factual determinations. The case is currently pending resolution of motions for summary judgment. If these further proceedings are resolved favorably to us, any reduction of the accrual could reduce insurance and claims expense in the period in which the claim is resolved. On the other hand, if we are not successful in obtaining such a favorable resolution, insurance and claims expense may increase as a result of continuing litigation expenses, including pre and post judgment interest. We periodically evaluate strategies to efficiently reduce our insurance and claims expense, which in the past has included the commutation of our auto liability insurance policy. We intend to evaluate our ability to commute the current policy and any such commutation could significantly impact insurance and claims expense.

Communications and utilities

Three n	nonths	Nine m	onths
ended		ended	
Septem	ber 30,	Septem	ber 30,
2016	2015	2016	2015

Communications and utilities	\$1,54	6	\$1,52	7	\$4,48	8	\$4,54	7
% of total revenue	0.9	%	0.9	%	0.9	%	0.9	%
% of freight revenue	1.0	%	1.0	%	1.0	%	1.0	%

For the periods presented, the changes in communications and utilities were not significant as either a percentage of total revenue or freight revenue.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

General supplies and expenses

	Three months			Nine months				
	ended	ended			ended			
	Septer	nbe	r 30,		September 30,			
	2016		2015		2016		2015	
General supplies and expenses	\$3,40	5	\$2,06	0	\$10,19	93	\$9,99	3
% of total revenue	2.1	%	1.2	%	2.1	%	1.9	%
% of freight revenue	2.3	%	1.3	%	2.3	%	2.2	%

General supplies and expenses increased approximately \$1.3 million, or 65.3%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, general supplies and expenses increased to 2.1% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 1.2% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, general supplies and expenses increased to 2.3% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 1.3% in the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, general supplies and expenses increased approximately \$0.2 million, or 2.0%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, general supplies and expenses increased to 2.1% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 1.9% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, general supplies and expenses increased to 2.3% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 2.2% in the same period in 2015.

These increases are primarily related to the approximately \$1.2 million reversal of deferred rent expense partially offset by reduced building rent expense related to the purchase of our previously leased Chattanooga headquarters property in August 2015.

Depreciation and amortization

	Three mor	iths				
	ended		Nine months ended			
	September	30,	September 30,			
	2016	2015	2016	2015		
Depreciation and amortization	\$19,328	\$14,692	\$52,232	\$43,368		
% of total revenue	11.7 %	8.5 %	10.9 %	8.4 %		
% of freight revenue	13.0 %	9.6 %	11.9 %	9.7 %		

Depreciation and amortization consists primarily of depreciation of owned revenue equipment, net of gains and losses on disposition of capital assets. Depreciation and amortization increased approximately \$4.6 million, or 31.6%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, depreciation and amortization increased to 11.7% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 8.5% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, depreciation and amortization increased to 13.0% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 9.6% in the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, depreciation and amortization increased approximately \$8.9 million, or 20.4%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, depreciation and amortization increased to 10.9% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 8.4% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, depreciation and amortization increased to 11.9% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 9.7% in the same period in 2015.

Excluding gains and losses, depreciation increased \$4.1 million and \$8.4 million, respectively, for the quarter and nine-month period ended September 30, 2016, primarily as a result of our taking accelerated depreciation to reflect the decline in projected revenue equipment residual values, higher depreciation resulting from the acquisition of more expensive equipment than in the 2015 period, as we sought to replace certain equipment with more fuel efficient models that offer improved safety technology, as well as the recognition of depreciation on our previously leased Chattanooga headquarters building, which we purchased in August 2015. Losses on the sale of property and equipment were \$0.4 million and \$0.1 million in the quarter and nine-month period ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared to gains of \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million for the same 2015 quarter and period, primarily due to variations in the number, type, and mileage of the units sold in the respective quarters and periods. We expect depreciation and amortization to remain at these higher levels going forward as a result of our acquisition of revenue equipment through financed purchases and capital leases rather than operating leases and as a result of the changes to the residual values noted above due to the soft used equipment market. Additionally, if the soft used tractor market continues, this could result in the continuation of lower gains than we have experienced in prior years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Interest expense, net

	Three	mo	nths		Nine months					
	ended				ended					
	Septer	September 30,					September 30,			
	2016	2015		2016		2015				
Interest expense, net	\$1,959	9	\$2,04	1	\$6,21	0	\$5,96	2		
% of total revenue	1.2	%	1.2	%	1.3	%	1.2	%		
% of freight revenue	1.3	%	1.3	%	1.4	%	1.3	%		

For the periods presented, the changes in interest expenses, net were not significant as either a percentage of total revenue or freight revenue.

This line item will fluctuate based on our decision with respect to purchasing revenue equipment with balance sheet debt versus operating leases as well as our ability to continue to generate profitable results and reduce our leverage.

Equity in income of affiliate

	Three	months	Nine months		
	ended		ended		
	Septer	mber 30,	Septemb	oer 30,	
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Equity in income of affiliate	\$450	\$1,000	\$2,450	\$3,720	

We have accounted for our investment in TEL using the equity method of accounting and thus our financial results include our proportionate share of TEL's net income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease in TEL's contributions to our results is primarily due to the continuation of a softened used tractor market compared to the same 2015 periods. Given the decline in the used and leased equipment markets in which TEL operates, we expect the impact on our earnings resulting from our investment in TEL to moderate over the next twelve months.

Income tax expense

	Three months			Nine months				
	ended			ended				
	September 30,			September 30,				
	2016		2015		2016		2015	
Income tax expense	\$1,068	3	\$5,961	1	\$5,568	3	\$12,34	9
% of total revenue	0.6	%	3.4	%	1.2	%	2.4	%
% of freight revenue	0.7	%	3.9	%	1.3	%	2.8	%
Effective income tax rate	27.1	%	43.9	%	33.9	%	30.0	%

Income tax expense decreased approximately \$4.9 million, or 82.1%, for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared with the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, income tax expense decreased to 0.6% of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 3.4% in the same quarter in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, income tax expense decreased to 0.7% of freight revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016, from 3.9% in the same quarter in 2015.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, income tax expense decreased approximately \$6.8 million, or 54.9%, compared with the same period in 2015. As a percentage of total revenue, income tax expense decreased to 1.2% of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 2.4% in the same period in 2015. As a percentage of freight revenue, income tax expense decreased to 1.3% of freight revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, from 2.8% in the same period in 2015.

These changes were primarily related to the \$9.7 million and \$24.8 million decreases, respectively, in the pre-tax income in the 2016 quarter and period compared to the 2015 quarter and period, resulting from the decline in operating income noted above and the decrease in the contribution from TEL's earnings.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The effective income tax rate has historically been higher than the expected combined tax rate due primarily to permanent differences related to our per diem pay structure for drivers. The effective income tax rate is lower in the 2016 quarter and period due to certain tax credits recognized in the third quarter of 2016. Additionally, the 2015 nine-month period included a \$4.7 million tax credit taken in the first quarter of 2015. The reduced effective income tax rate is not something we expect to have consistently going forward, however, there could be volatility in our tax rate as income fluctuates and as we evaluate several planning opportunities.

RESULTS OF SEGMENT OPERATIONS

COMPARISON OF THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 TO THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2015

The following table summarizes financial and operating data by reportable segment:

	Three mon	ths ended	Nine months ended September 30,			
(in thousands)	September	30,				
	2016	2015	2016	2015		
Total Revenues:						
Truckload	\$148,603	\$159,615	\$436,055	\$479,664		
Other	15,897	13,897	43,618	36,514		
Total	\$164,500	\$173,512	\$479,673	\$516,178		
Operating Income:						
Truckload	\$5,508	\$15,983	\$22,558	\$46,799		
Other	1,829	923	5,144	1,840		
Unallocated Corporate Overhead	(1,891)	(2,277)	(7,521)	(5,193)		
Total	\$5,446	\$14,629	\$20,181	\$43,446		

For the 2016 quarter Truckload total revenue decreased \$11.0 million due to a \$7.3 million decrease in freight revenue and a \$3.7 million decrease in fuel surcharge revenue. The decrease in freight revenue is primarily the result of a 1.2% decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week. The decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 is the result of a decrease in average freight revenue per total mile of approximately 1.0%, resulting primarily from a decrease in rates versus the 2015 quarter, and a decrease in average miles per unit of 0.2% compared to the 2015 quarter resulting primarily from a lower percentage of seated units, partially offset by an increase in the percentage of team-driven units.

Our Truckload operating income was \$10.5 million lower in the 2016 quarter than in the same 2015 quarter, due to the abovementioned decrease in rates, utilization, and seated units. Additionally, operating costs per mile, net of fuel surcharge revenue, increased primarily due to increased capital costs and casualty insurance, partially offset by reduced salaries, wages, and benefits, as described above.

The change in unallocated corporate overhead for the three months ended September 30, 2016 is primarily related to the reversal of an incentive compensation accrual due to lower likelihood of achievement for 2016.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, Truckload total revenue decreased \$43.6 million due to a \$24.8 million decrease in fuel surcharge revenue and an \$18.8 million decrease in freight revenue, resulting from a 1.7% decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week partially offset by a \$1.6 million increase in freight revenue

from our refrigerated intermodal service offering compared to the same 2015 period. The decrease in average freight revenue per tractor per week for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 is the result of a 1.6% decrease in average miles per unit, partially offset by a 0.2% increase in average revenue per total mile when compared to the same period in 2015. Team driven units increased approximately 4.8% to an average of 994 for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 compared to an average of 948 teams during the same 2015 period.

Our Truckload operating income was \$24.2 million lower in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same 2015 period, due to the abovementioned changes in utilization and rates. Additionally, operating costs per mile, net of fuel surcharge revenue, increased primarily due to increased net fuel costs and increased capital costs partially offset by reduced salaries, wages, and benefits as described above.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Other total revenue and operating income increased \$2.0 million and \$0.9 million quarter-over-quarter, respectively, and increased \$7.1 million and \$3.3 million period-over-period, respectively, as a result of growth at Solutions during the latter portion of 2015 that has been sustained through 2016.

The change in unallocated corporate overhead for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, includes the abovementioned \$3.6 million credit in the second quarter of 2015 for the commutation of two auto liability policies for the period from April 1, 2013 through September 30, 2014.

For the quarter and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the decrease in fuel surcharge revenue was primarily due to lower fuel prices and operation of fewer tractors versus the 2015 quarter and period. See our discussion of "Fuel expense" above for additional information.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our business requires significant capital investments over the short-term and the long-term. Recently, we have financed our capital requirements with borrowings under our Credit Facility, cash flows from operations, long-term operating leases, capital leases, secured installment notes with finance companies, and proceeds from the sale of our used revenue equipment. Our primary sources of liquidity at September 30, 2016, were funds provided by operations, borrowings under our Credit Facility, borrowings from secured installment notes, capital leases, operating leases of revenue equipment, and cash and cash equivalents. We had working capital (total current assets less total current liabilities) of \$27.2 million and \$46.4 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Based on our expected financial condition, results of operations, net capital expenditures, sources of financing, and net cash flows during the next twelve months, we believe our working capital and sources of liquidity will be adequate to meet our current and projected needs for at least the next twelve months.

We expect borrowings from the financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers to be available to fund new tractors expected to be delivered in 2016, while any other property and equipment purchases, including trailers, are expected to be funded with a combination of notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or from the Credit Facility. Going forward, we expect revenue equipment acquisitions through purchases and capital leases to increase as a percentage of our fleet as we decrease our use of operating leases. With a relatively young average fleet age at September 30, 2016, we believe there is significant flexibility to manage our fleet, and we plan to regularly evaluate our tractor replacement cycle and new tractor purchase requirements. If we grow our independent contractor fleet, our capital requirements would be reduced. Given the current state of our revenue equipment fleet, the freight market, and the new and used equipment markets, we expect capital expenditures, net of proceeds of expected dispositions, for 2017 to be less than that of either 2014 or 2015. As of September 30, 2016, we had \$15.8 million of borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility, undrawn letters of credit outstanding of approximately \$26.8 million, and available borrowing capacity of \$47.6 million. Our intra-period borrowings on the Credit Facility ranged from none to approximately \$25.4 million during the first nine months of 2016. Fluctuations in the outstanding balance and related availability on the Credit Facility are driven primarily by cash flows from operations and the timing and nature of property and equipment additions that are not funded through notes payable, as well as the nature and timing of receipt of proceeds from disposals of property and equipment.

Cash Flows

Net cash flows provided by operating activities were higher in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016 than in the 2015 period, primarily due to the change in receivables and advances as the result of increased cash collected during 2016 related to increased 2015 year-end revenues, a reduction of average days to collect to approximately 31 days from approximately 33 days, and the fluctuation in tax benefit/expense due to the reversal of deferred tax effects on amounts in other comprehensive income. This improvement is partially offset by net income of \$10.9 million in the

2016 period compared to net income of \$28.9 million in the 2015 period, the 2015 return of \$5.0 million which was previously provided by us to certain of our derivative counterparties related to the net liability position of certain of our fuel derivative instruments, a reduction of fuel surcharge revenue as compared to the same 2015 period, and depreciation and amortization increasing approximately \$8.4 million in the 2016 period, primarily as a result of the reduced residual revenue equipment value projections due to the softened used equipment market and purchase of our previously leased Chattanooga headquarters property. The fluctuations in cash flows from accounts payable and accrued expenses primarily related to the timing of payments on our trade accounts in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The change in net cash flows used in investing activities was primarily the result of the \$23.9 million decrease in assets held for sale due to the timing of dispositions of used revenue equipment including the units under contract to be sold at December 31, 2015. During the 2016 period we took delivery of approximately 650 new company tractors and disposed of approximately 909 used tractors, including 365 recorded as assets held for sale at December 31, 2015, resulting in an average of 2,605 tractors for the 2016 period compared to an average of 2,707 tractors for the 2015 period. For the remainder of the 2016 period, we do not plan to have any additional deliveries of new company tractors. Going forward cash flows from disposals of equipment could be more volatile given the weakness in the used tractor market.

The change in net cash flows used in financing activities was primarily a function of net repayments of notes payable and the balance under our Credit Facility. These changes primarily relate to the trade cycle of our revenue equipment and cash flows from investing and operating activities discussed above. Going forward, our cash flows may fluctuate depending on the resolution of the 2008 cargo claim, future stock repurchases, and the extent of future income tax obligations.

Material Debt Agreements

We and substantially all of our subsidiaries (collectively, the "Borrowers") are parties to a Third Amended and Restated Credit Facility (the "Credit Facility") with Bank of America, N.A., as agent (the "Agent") and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM," and together with the Agent, the "Lenders").

The Credit Facility is a \$95.0 million revolving credit facility, with an uncommitted accordion feature that, so long as no event of default exists, allows us to request an increase in the revolving credit facility of up to \$50.0 million subject to lender acceptance of the additional funding commitment. The Credit Facility included, within our \$95.0 million revolving credit facility, a letter of credit sub facility in an aggregate amount of \$95.0 million and a swing line sub facility in an aggregate amount equal to the greater of \$10.0 million or 10% of the Lenders' aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility from time-to-time.

In August 2015, we entered into an eleventh amendment to the Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i) amended the "Applicable Margin" to improve the interest rate grid, (ii) improved the unused line fee pricing to 0.25% per annum, retroactive to July 1, 2015 (previously the fee was 0.375% per annum when availability was less than \$50.0 million and 0.5% per annum when availability was at or over such amount), (iii) required each of Driven Analytic Solutions, LLC ("DAS") and Covenant Properties, LLC ("CPI") to be joined to the Credit Agreement as guarantors, (iv) required each of DAS, CPI and Star Properties Exchange, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company, to pledge certain of its assets as security, (v) contained conditional amendments increasing the borrowing base real estate sublimit and lowering the amortization of the real estate sublimit, (vi) made technical amendments to a variety of sections, including without limitation, permitted investments, permitted stock repurchases, permitted indebtedness, and permitted liens, (vii) consented to our purchase of our headquarters, including related financing, and (viii) extended the maturity date from September 2017 to September 2018. In exchange for these amendments, we agreed to pay fees of \$0.2 million. Based on availability as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there was no fixed charge coverage requirement.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are classified as either "base rate loans" or "LIBOR loans." Base rate loans accrue interest at a base rate equal to the greater of the Agent's prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.5% to 1.0%; while LIBOR loans accrue interest at LIBOR, plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.5% to 2.0%. The applicable rates are adjusted quarterly based on average pricing availability. The unused line fee is the product of 0.25% times the average daily amount by which the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under the Credit Facility exceed the outstanding principal amount of revolver loans and the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility. The obligations

under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by us and secured by a pledge of substantially all of our assets, with the notable exclusion of any real estate or revenue equipment pledged under other financing agreements, including revenue equipment installment notes and capital leases.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to a borrowing base limited to the lesser of (A) \$95.0 million, minus the sum of the stated amount of all outstanding letters of credit; or (B) the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receivable, plus (ii) the lesser of (a) 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible revenue equipment, (b) 95% of the net book value of eligible revenue equipment, or (c) 35% of the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under the Credit Facility, plus (iii) the lesser of (a) \$25.0 million or (b) 65% of the appraised fair market value of eligible real estate. We had \$15.8 million outstanding under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2016, undrawn letters of credit outstanding of approximately \$26.8 million, and available borrowing capacity of \$47.6 million. The interest rate on outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2016, was 4.0% on \$3.3 million of base rate loans and 2.1% on \$12.5 million of LIBOR loans.

The Credit Facility includes usual and customary events of default for a facility of this nature and provides that, upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default, payment of all amounts payable under the Credit Facility may be accelerated, and the Lenders' commitments may be terminated. If an event of default occurs under the Credit Facility and the Lenders cause all of the outstanding debt obligations under the Credit Facility to become due and payable, this could result in a default under other debt instruments that contain acceleration or cross-default provisions. The Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things, debt, dividends, liens, acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course of business, and affiliate transactions. Failure to comply with the covenants and restrictions set forth in the Credit Facility could result in an event of default.

Capital lease obligations are utilized to finance a portion of our revenue equipment and are entered into with certain finance companies who are not parties to our Credit Facility. The leases in effect at September 30, 2016 terminate in October 2016 through September 2022 and contain guarantees of the residual value of the related equipment by us. As such, the residual guarantees are included in the related debt balance as a balloon payment at the end of the related term, as well as included in the future minimum capital lease payments. These lease agreements require us to pay personal property taxes, maintenance, and operating expenses.

Pricing for the revenue equipment installment notes is quoted by the respective financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers and other lenders at the funding of each group of equipment acquired and include fixed annual rates for new equipment under retail installment contracts. The notes included in the funding are due in monthly installments with final maturities at various dates ranging from October 2016 to January 2022. The notes contain certain requirements regarding payment, insuring of collateral, and other matters, but do not have any financial or other material covenants or events of default except certain notes totaling \$149.2 million are cross-defaulted with the Credit Facility. Additionally, the abovementioned fuel hedge contracts totaling \$9.9 million at September 30, 2016, are cross-defaulted with the Credit Facility. Additional borrowings from the financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers and other lenders are expected to be available to fund new tractors expected to be delivered in 2017, while any other property and equipment purchases, including trailers, are expected to be funded with a combination of available cash, notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or from the Credit Facility.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Operating leases have been an important source of financing for our revenue equipment and certain real estate. At September 30, 2016, we had financed 139 tractors and 1,733 trailers under operating leases. Vehicles held under operating leases are not carried on our condensed consolidated balance sheets, and operating lease payments in respect of such vehicles are reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of operations in the line item "Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation." Our revenue equipment rental expense was \$2.7 million and \$3.1 million for the third quarters of 2016 and 2015, respectively. The total value of remaining payments under operating leases as of September 30, 2016 was approximately \$19.4 million. In connection with various operating leases, we issued residual value guarantees, which provide that if we do not purchase the leased equipment from the lessor at the

end of the lease term, we are liable to the lessor for an amount equal to the shortage (if any) between the proceeds from the sale of the equipment and an agreed value. The undiscounted value of the residual guarantees was approximately \$4.0 million at September 30, 2016. The residual guarantees at September 30, 2016 expire between August 2018 and February 2019. The discounted present value of the total remaining lease payments and residual value guarantees were approximately \$20.1 million as of September 30, 2016. We expect our residual guarantees to approximate the market value at the end of the lease term. We believe that proceeds from the sale of equipment under operating leases would exceed the payment obligation on substantially all operating leases.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, there were no material changes in our commitments or contractual liabilities.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires us to make decisions based upon estimates, assumptions, and factors we consider as relevant to the circumstances. Such decisions include the selection of applicable accounting principles and the use of judgment in their application, the results of which impact reported amounts and disclosures. Changes in future economic conditions or other business circumstances may affect the outcomes of our estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those anticipated. There have been no material changes to our most critical accounting policies and estimates during the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to those disclosed in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We experience various market risks, including changes in interest rates and fuel prices. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, or when there are no underlying related exposures.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

We engage in activities that expose us to market risks, including the effects of changes in fuel prices and in interest rates. Financial exposures are evaluated as an integral part of our risk management program, which seeks, from time-to-time, to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of fuel markets and interest rate risk may have on operating results.

In an effort to seek to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel fuel prices, we periodically enter into various derivative instruments, including forward futures swap contracts (which we refer to as "fuel hedging contracts"). Historically diesel fuel has not been a traded commodity on the futures market so heating oil has been used as a substitute, as prices for both generally move in similar directions. Recently, however, we have been able to enter into hedging contracts with respect to both heating oil and ULSD. Under these contracts, we pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating oil or ULSD and receive the monthly average price of New York heating oil per NYMEX and Gulf Coast ULSD, respectively. The retrospective and prospective regression analyses provided that changes in the prices of diesel fuel and heating oil and diesel fuel and ULSD were each deemed to be highly effective based on the relevant authoritative guidance. We do not engage in speculative transactions, nor do we hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

A one dollar increase or decrease in heating oil or diesel per gallon would have an approximately \$0.4 million impact to our net income due to our fuel surcharge recovery and existing fuel hedge contracts. This sensitivity analysis considers that we expect to purchase approximately 11.4 million gallons of diesel during the remainder of 2016, on which we recover approximately 67.3% of the cost (which was our fuel surcharge recovery rate during the year-to-date period ended September 30, 2016). Assuming our fuel surcharge recovery is consistent during the remainder of 2016, this leaves 3.7 million gallons that are not covered by the natural hedge created by our fuel surcharges. Because the majority of our fuel hedge contracts were established prior to the recent decline in diesel fuel prices, we have not been able to realize the cost savings resulting from such decline to the same extent we would have had we not entered into our hedge contracts.

INTEREST RATE RISK

In August 2015, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of \$28.0 million, which was designated as a hedge against the variability in future interest payments due on the debt associated with the purchase of our corporate headquarters. The terms of the swap agreement effectively convert the variable rate interest payments on this note to a fixed rate of 4.2% through maturity on August 1, 2035. Because the critical terms of the swap and hedged item coincide, in accordance with the requirements of ASC 815, the change in the fair value of the derivative is expected to exactly offset changes in the expected cash flows due to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate over the term of the debt instrument, and therefore no ongoing assessment of effectiveness is required. The fair value of the swap agreement that was in effect at September 30, 2016, of approximately \$3.0 million, is included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, and is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. Additionally, \$0.4 million was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations as additional interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, related to changes in interest rates during such period. Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of September 30, 2016, we expect to reclassify losses of approximately \$0.3 million, net of tax, on derivative instruments from accumulated other comprehensive loss into our results of operations during the next twelve months due to changes in interest rates. The amounts actually realized will depend on the fair values as of the date of settlement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Our market risk is also affected by changes in interest rates. Historically, we have used a combination of fixed-rate and variable-rate obligations to manage our interest rate exposure. Fixed-rate obligations expose us to the risk that interest rates might fall. Variable-rate obligations expose us to the risk that interest rates might rise. Of our total \$223.2 million of debt and capital leases, we had \$46.3 million of variable rate debt outstanding at September 30, 2016, including both our Credit Facility and a real-estate note, of which \$27.0 million was hedged with our interest rate swap agreement at 4.2%. The interest rates applicable to these agreements are based on either the prime rate or LIBOR. Our earnings would be affected by changes in these short-term interest rates. Risk can be quantified by measuring the financial impact of a near-term adverse increase in short-term interest rates. At our September 30, 2016 level of borrowing, a 1% increase in our applicable rate would reduce annual net income by approximately \$0.1 million. Our remaining debt is fixed rate debt, and therefore changes in market interest rates do not directly impact our interest expense.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us and our consolidated subsidiaries is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors.

Based on their evaluation as of September 30, 2016, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective at a reasonable assurance level to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected or that are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

We have confidence in our internal controls and procedures. Nevertheless, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure procedures and controls or our internal controls will prevent all errors or intentional fraud. An internal control system, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of such internal controls are met. Further, the design of an internal controls system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all internal controls systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all our controls issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time-to-time, we are a party to ordinary, routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, most of which involves claims for personal injury and property damage incurred in connection with the transportation of freight.

We maintain insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight for amounts in excess of certain self-insured retentions. In management's opinion, our potential exposure under pending legal proceedings is adequately provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio issued a pre-trial decision in a lawsuit against SRT relating to a cargo claim incurred in 2008. The court awarded the plaintiff approximately \$5.9 million plus prejudgment interest and costs and denied a cross-motion for summary judgment by SRT. Previously, the court had ruled in favor of SRT on all but one count before overturning its earlier decision and ruling in favor of the plaintiff. SRT filed a Notice of Appeal with the U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in September 2014. In November 2015, the Sixth Circuit reversed the district court in part, finding that the plaintiff could not recover under two of its causes of action. The Sixth Circuit remanded the proceedings to the district court for further factual determinations relating to whether the plaintiff could recover under a third cause of action. The case is currently pending resolution of motions for summary judgment.

Based on our present knowledge of the facts and, in certain cases, advice of outside counsel, management believes the resolution of open claims and pending litigation, taking into account existing reserves, is not likely to have a materially adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

While we attempt to identify, manage, and mitigate risks and uncertainties associated with our business, some level of risk and uncertainty will always be present. Our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," describes some of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business. These risks and uncertainties have the potential to materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, projected results, and future prospects.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

During the quarter ended September 30, 2016, we did not engage in unregistered sales of securities or any other transactions required to be reported under this Item 2 of Part II on Form 10-Q.

The payment of cash dividends is currently limited by our financing arrangements, including certain covenants under our Credit Facility.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit		
Number	Referenc	e Description
3.1	(1)	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation
3.2	(2)	Second Amended and Restated Bylaws
4.1	(1)	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation
4.2	(2)	Second Amended and Restated Bylaws
<u>10.1</u>	*#	Consulting Agreement dated July 11, 2016, by and between the Company and Herbert J. Schmidt.
<u>31.1</u>	#	Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David R. Parker, the Company's Principal Executive Officer
31.2	#	Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Richard B. Cribbs, the Company's Principal Financial Officer
<u>32.1</u>	#	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David R. Parker, the Company's Chief Executive Officer
<u>32.2</u>	#	Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Richard B. Cribbs, the Company's Chief Financial Officer
101.INS		XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101.PRE		XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
References	:	
(1)	Incorpora	ated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Report on Form 8-K, filed May 29, 2007.
(2)	Incomposi	oted by reference to Eyhibit 2.2 to the Company's Form 10.0. filed May 12, 2011

- (2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed May 13, 2011.
- * Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
- # Filed herewith.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC.

Date: November 9, 2016 By:/s/ Richard B. Cribbs

Richard B. Cribbs

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in his capacity as such and as a duly authorized officer

on behalf of the issuer